FILED
DECEMBER 17, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS - DIVISION III

NO. 33591-7-III

ESTATE OF MARGARET L. BERTO,

Appellant.

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES, WASHINGTON HEALTHCARE AUTHORITY,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

Brief of Appellant

MATTHEW LUEDKE Attorney for Appellant

MOULTON LAW OFFICES, P.S. 1220 N. Mullan Rd. Spokane, WA 99206 (509) 328-2150

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Trial Court Erred In Its Affirmation of the Review Decision and Final Order of the Department of Social and Health Services Board of Appeals that the Berto Special Needs Trust Was an Available Resource to Mrs. Berto Under WAC 182-516-0100(11), Making Her Over Resourced and Ineligible For Medicaid.

III. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED</u>

Did the Trial Court err in applying WAC 182-516-0100(11) to a Supplemental Needs Trust established by the deceased spouse in their Will and, accordingly, counting the assets in that Trust as an available resource for determining Medicaid eligibility?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January 2009, Mrs. Berto's husband passed away, leaving his half of the joint estate, including his half of the Berto (Revocable) Living Trust, to the Trustees of the Testamentary Supplemental Needs Trust established under his Last Will and Testament (hereinafter referred to as the Berto Special Needs Trust). Following his passing, Appellant prepared a good faith inventory of the estate based upon statements and professional opinions of value. This inventory provided the values for an equal division of the estate.

On December 9, 2010, Mrs. Berto, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Virgil Berto and as Trustee of the Berto Living Trust, funded the Berto Special Needs Trust with a Promissory Note payable from the Living Trust for \$120,000, representing Virgil Berto's one half community property interest of the Berto Living Trust.

The terms of the Berto Special Needs Trust specifically limit what discretionary distributions of income and principal may be made by the Appellant if serving as Co-Trustee. The discretion is limited because Appellant was functionally eligible to apply for Medicaid assistance. Specifically, Article Three Section 2 states, "No part of the trust share set aside for such beneficiary shall be used to supplant or replace public assistance benefits of any state or federal agency..." Additionally, Article Five Section 5 states, "The Co-Trustee serving with MARGARET L. BERTO will always have the authority to determine the amount of any distribution made to MARGARET L. BERTO."

Between December 2010 and June 2013, Mrs. Berto spent the remaining assets in the Berto Living Trust. On June 20, 2013, Mr. West, as Attorney in Fact for Appellant, submitted a Medicaid Application for LTC Services. The purpose of the application was to begin benefits due to being financially and medically needy.

On January 22, 2014, seven months following the submission of the application, the Department of Social and Health Services denied Mrs. Berto's initial application for benefits, determining that Mrs. Berto, as beneficiary, maintained some "control" over the Berto Special Needs Trust. (Initial Order at 2).

On March 25, 2014, the matter came before the Office of Administrative Hearings for Fair Hearing. By written opinion mailed April 09, 2014, Debra H. Pierce, Administrative Law Judge, affirmed the department's denial. (Initial Order at 5). The primary basis for affirming the denial was WAC 182-516-0100. (Initial Order at 4). Applying WAC 182-516-0100 the Administrative Law Judge held, "if a trust was established by the recipient of public assistance, or the recipient's spouse, the maximum amount allowed to be distributed under the terms of the trust is considered available income to the recipient if the recipient could be the beneficiary of all or part of the payments from the trust, the distribution of payments is determined by one or more of the trustees and the trustees are allowed discretion in distributing payments to the recipient. In this case, the trust was established by the recipient's spouse, and the entire principal and income could be distributed to the Appellant at the trustees' discretion." (Initial Order at 4 ¶ 10).

Additionally, the Administrative Law Judge relied upon WAC 182-516-0100 stating that "The Appellant has not established that she had no control over the trust. Only funds of the Appellant or her spouse established the trust and remain as assets of the trust. Therefore, the trust principal is correctly considered a resource to the Appellant..." (Initial Order at 4 ¶ 12).

On October 10, 2014, the Department of Social and Health Services Board of Appeals in its Review Decision and Final Order held that the Berto Special Needs Trust was an available resource to Mrs. Berto under WAC 182-516-0100(11), making her over resourced and ineligible for Medicaid. "The language of subsection (11) reads like an initial determination of the

availability of the assets in the trust, even if it is poorly written." (Review Decision and Final Order at $9 \ 14$). "The standard in the regulation is whether the Appellant had any control over the trust." (Review Decision and Final Order at $9 \ 16$).

In its Order Denying Appllant's Petition to reverse the Review Decision and Final Order of the Department of Social and Health Services Board of Appeals the Trial Court held: "The estate makes the argument that the review judge erroneously expanded the scope of 182-516-0100(11) beyond third-party trusts. This Court does not understand that to be the holding of the review judge. Here the trust in question was formed by will provisions and was funded (depending on how you view it) by the estate or the living trust by way of assets received by the estate." (Order on Judicial Review, Attachment page 3).

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

The only question in this appeal is whether Washington Administrative Code Section 182-516-0100(11) applies only to Trusts established by a third party or does it extend to all Trusts including a Trust established by a spouse in their Will.

 WAC 182-516-0100(5)(a) Excludes Assets in a Trust Established by a Spouse in Their Will for Purposes of Determining Medicaid Eligibility for the Surviving Spouse.

When analyzing whether assets in a Trust should be counted for Medicaid eligibility purposes, we must first read the Trust to see if the assets are available to the beneficiary. If the language of the Trust says the assets are not available, then we look to WAC 182-516-0100 to see if the law makes them available despite the language in the trust. The relevant text of WAC 182-516-0100(5) states:

- 5. For trusts established on or after August 1, 2003;
 - a. The department considers a trust as if it were established by the client when:
 - i. The assets of the trust, as defined under WAC 388-470-0005, are at least partially from the client or the client's spouse;
 - ii. The trust is not established by will; and
 - iii. The trust was established by:
 - A. The client or the client's spouse;
 - B. A person, including a court or administrative body, with legal authority to act in place of or on behalf of, the client or the client's spouse; or
 - C. A person, including a court or administrative body, acting at the direction of or upon the request of the client or the client's spouse.
 - b. Only the assets contributed other than by will to the trust by either the client or the client's spouse are available to the client or the client's spouse when part of the trust assets were contributed by persons other than the client or the client's spouse.
 - c. (omitted)
 - d. For a revocable trust established as described under subsection (5)(a) of this section:
 - i. The full amount of the trust is an available resource of the client:
 - ii. Payments from the trust to or for the benefit of the client are income of the client; and
 - iii. Any payments from the trust, other than payments described under (5)(d)(ii), are considered a transfer of client assets.

e. For an <u>irrevocable trust established as described under</u> <u>subsection (5)(a) of this section</u>:

- i. Any part of the trust from which payment can be made to or for the benefit of the client or the client's spouse is an available resource. When payment is made from such irrevocable trusts, the department will consider the payment as:
 - A. Income to the client or the client's spouse when payment is to or for the benefit of either the client or the client's spouse; or
 - B. The transfer of an asset when payment is made to any person for any purpose other than the benefit of the client or the client's spouse;
- ii. A trust from which a payment cannot be made to or for the benefit of the client or the client's spouse is a transfer of assets. For such a trust, the transfer of assets is effective the date:

- A. The trust is established; or
- B. The client or client's spouse is prevented from receiving benefit, if this is after the trust is established.

Emphasis added to highlight relevant provisions.

This particular section of the Code emphasizes that any Trust created by a client or their spouse will be counted as a resource. The main exception to this is Subsection (5)(a)(ii) which removes from this consideration a Trust that has been established by a Will. The reason the statute has made an exception for trusts established by a spouse's Will is that the federal law provides that exception. 42 USC 1396p(d)(2)(A) provides:

- (A) For purpose of this subsection, an individual shall be considered to have established a trust if assets of the individual were used to form all or part of the corpus of the trust and if any of the following individuals established such trust other than by Will:
 - (ii) The individual's spouse

Medicaid is a joint program between the Federal Government and the States. Washington State must follow the Federal law to receive matching funds from the Federal Government. The Berto Special Needs Trust is a testamentary trust from which Appellant's spouse contributed assets "by will." Accordingly, the Berto Special Needs Trust falls squarely within the exception under WAC 182-516-0100(5) and should not be considered as available.

2. WAC 182-516-0100(11) Applies to Trusts Established With Funds From a Third Party and Not to Trusts Established With Funds From a Spouse.

The next step in this analysis is to determine whether WAC 182-516-0100(11) applies to all Trusts or just to Trusts funded by a third party. WAC 182-516-0100(11) provides:

- (11) The department will only count income received by the client from trusts and not the principal, if:
 - (a) The beneficiary has no control over the trust; and
 - (b) It was established with funds of someone other than the client, spouse or legally responsible person.

Subpart (b) specifically refers to a Trust established with funds of someone other than the client or their spouse. There is no ambiguity in this statement. If WAC 182-516-0100(11) applied to Trusts funded by a spouse, the law makers would not have added Subpart (b) to specifically exclude Trusts established with the funds of the spouse.

The reason WAC 182-516-0100(11)(b) is needed is because WAC 182-516-0100(5) already clearly addresses Trusts funded with assets from a spouse, client or legally responsible person. In fact Subsection (5)(b) states that it does not matter if the spouse has control or not, the assets in a Trust established by a spouse (other than by a will) will be considered a resource. The only gap that needed to be filled by Subsection (11) are Trusts established by a third party. By adding Subsection (11) the law makers attempt to close that gap and state that if a person is a beneficiary of a Trust funded by someone other than themselves or their spouse and the client has control over that Trust, then those assets will be counted as a resource.

3. The Assets in the Trust Established by the Will of the Deceased Spouse are Assets from the Spouse not a Third Party.

The only remaining question is, does the Code intend for us to consider assets in a Trust established by a spouse's Will to be assets from the spouse and exempt under WAC 182-516-0100(5)(a)(ii) or are the assets in that Trust to be considered as originating from a third party that should be subject to the control restrictions of WAC 182-516-0100(11).

The answer is that if we consider assets in the Trust established by the spouse's Will to be from a third party and not the spouse it renders WAC 182-516-0100(5)(a)(ii) completely moot and illogical. Subsection (5) states that if a spouse contributes assets directly to a trust, they are available, but if a spouse contributes the same assets by a Will to a trust, they are not available. Just because the spouse's assets go to the trust through a Will and probate does not somehow make them non-spouse third-party assets. The language in Subsection (5)(b) further

supports this logical conclusion. In (5)(b), the lawmakers clearly reference assets being contributed by a "spouse" by Will. As Wills are not executed until death, this statement has but one logical conclusion – that a spouse can posthumously contribute assets to a protected trust. The spouse owned the assets at death and the Will transferred them to a trust. The trust established in this case was created and funded by Mr. Berto's assets through his Will so they are exempt under Subsection (5).

4. Conclusion

WAC 182-516-0100 was written to clarify the rules of trust asset inclusion. Each part must stand on its own. If a trust is exempt under one part, it cannot then become available because it doesn't qualify as exempt under another part. Otherwise every trust would be available. There is no trust that would qualify under all 11 parts. If Subsection (11) applies to all trusts, then we must throw out the exemptions contained in Subsections (4), (5), (6) and (7) as no (4), (5), (6) or (7) trust would satisfy Subsection (11). Subsection (11) is a protection rule not an exclusion rule. If a trust satisfies Subsection (11) the principal is exempt. If it does not satisfy the rule, it is not automatically available. The trust can still be protected under (4), (5), (6) or (7).

In summary, Subsection (5) of WAC 182-516-0100 exempts assets held by a Trust if a spouse contributed to that trust by a Will. WAC 182-516-0100(11) specifically excludes from its scope any Trusts funded with assets from a client or their spouse. The assets contributed to the Berto Special Needs Trust were owned by Mr. Berto. He held these assets in the Berto Living Trust which clearly stated that those were his assets and he could do whatever he wanted with them. At his death, they became part of his estate and funded a trust through his Will. Clearly this is a trust created and funded by Mr. Berto's assets through his probate and Will. WAC 182-516-0100(11) does not apply to this Trust and the assets should not be counted towards Mrs. Berto's eligibility for Medicaid benefits.

WHEREFORE, the Appellant respectfully requests that the Court make a determination that the Trial Court erred in its interpretation and application of WAC 182-516-0100(11) and overturn the Review Decision and Final Order of the Department of Social and Health Services Board of Appeals adjudging the Berto Special Needs Trust to be a countable resource, determine Mrs. Berto eligible for Medicaid benefits as of June 2013, and award Attorney's fees and costs to Appellant.