NO. 33591-7-III

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF MARGARET L. BERTO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES, WASHINGTON HEALTHCARE AUTHORITY,

Respondent.

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

NISSA A. IVERSEN WSBA No. 46708 CATHERINE KARDONG WSBA No. 47144 Assistant Attorneys General

7141 Cleanwater Dr. SW Olympia, WA 98504-0124 (360) 753-2769 OID No. 91021

Attorneys for Respondent

#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

Review of agency action is governed by the Administrative Procedure Act, title 34.05 RCW. The burden of demonstrating the invalidity of agency action is on the party asserting the invalidity. RCW 34.05.570(1). A reviewing court may invalidate an agency's final order only for specific, enumerated reasons. RCW 34.05.570. Under RCW 34.05.570(3), relief may be granted only if:

(a) The order, or the statute or rule on which the order is based, is in violation of constitutional provisions on its face or as applied; (b) The order is outside the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency conferred by any provision of law; (c) The agency has engaged in unlawful procedure or decision-making process, or has failed to follow a prescribed procedure; (d) The agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law; (e) The order is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court, which includes the agency record for judicial review, supplemented by any additional evidence received by the court under this chapter; (f) The agency has not decided all issues requiring resolution by the agency; (g) A motion for disqualification under RCW 34.05.425 or 34.12.050 was made and was improperly denied or, if no motion was made, facts are shown to support the grant of such a motion that were not known and were not reasonably discoverable by the challenging party at the appropriate time for making such a motion; (h) The order is inconsistent with a rule of the agency unless the agency explains the inconsistency by stating facts and reasons to demonstrate a rational basis for inconsistency; or (i) The order is arbitrary or capricious.

Although the Estate has failed to cite to the Administrative Procedure Act standard of review and identify under which of the enumerated reasons in RCW 34.05.570 it appeals, this Court can overturn the final order only for one of those enumerated reasons.<sup>5</sup>

When the challenged action is an agency order, the appellate court's review is limited to the order issued by the final decision-maker for the agency, not a preliminary or initial decision or the order of the superior court. *Verizon Nw., Inc. v. Wash. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 164 Wn.2d 909, 915, 194 P.3d 255 (2008); *Campbell v. State Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 180 Wn.2d 566, 569, 326 P.3d 713 (2014) ("We sit in the same position as the superior court and apply the APA standards directly to the administrative record. . . . Thus, the decision we review is that of the agency, not of the ALJ or the superior court."). 6

Questions of law are reviewed de novo. *Ames v. Dep't of Health*, 166 Wn.2d 255, 260-61, 208 P.3d 549 (2009). While the Court may

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Based on the arguments presented in its briefing, HCA is assuming that the Estate is relying on RCW 34.05.570(3)(d) and arguing that HCA erroneously interpreted or applied WAC 182-516-0100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Estate has not identified the appropriate order that is being appealed and erroneously assigns error on the part of the superior court. Brief of Appellant (Br. Appellant) at 1. ("The Trial Court Erred . . . ."; "Did the Trial Court err . . . ."). The superior court is not part of HCA and its ruling does not constitute an agency action. Thus, under the Administrative Procedure Act, this Court can review only the Review Decision and Final Order, not the superior court order.

substitute its interpretation of the law for that of an agency, it should grant substantial deference to the agency's interpretation of ambiguous statutes that the agency administers. *Pub. Util. Dist. 1 v. Dep't of Ecology*, 146 Wn.2d 778, 790, 51 P.3d 744 (2002). This is especially true when the issue falls within the agency's area of expertise. *Ames*, 166 Wn.2d at 261. An agency's interpretation of its regulations is entitled deference as "it has expertise and insight gained from administering the regulation that the reviewing court does not possess." *Swedish Health Servs. v. Dep't. of Health*, 189 Wn. App. 911, 914, 358 P.3d 1243 (2015), *quoting Overlake Hosp. Ass'n v. Dep't of Health*, 170 Wn.2d 43, 56, 239 P.3d 1095 (2010).

Challenged facts are reviewed under the substantial evidence standard. RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). A challenged finding of fact will be upheld if it is supported by "evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court." *Id.* This standard is highly deferential to the agency fact finder. *ARCO Prods. Co. v. Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n*, 125 Wn.2d 805, 812, 888 P.2d 728 (1995). The reviewing court is not to weigh the evidence or substitute its view of the facts for that of the agency. *Callecod v. Wash. State Patrol*, 84 Wn. App. 663, 929 P.2d 510 (1997). Rather, if the administrative record contains sufficient facts from which a reasonable person could make the same

findings as the agency, the findings should be upheld, even if the reviewing court would make a different finding. *Id*.

## B. Findings of Fact Not Challenged Are Verities on Appeal

It does not appear that the Estate has evoked RCW 34.05.570(3)(e) and argued that the final order is unsupported by substantial evidence, but even if it had, no specific findings of fact in the final order have been challenged. An appellant challenging the factual findings in an administrative order must specifically assign error to "each finding of fact" it is challenging. Rules of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 10.3(g); see also Markam Group, Inc. P.S. v. Dep't of Emp't Sec., 148 Wn. App. 555, 561-62, 200 P.3d 748 (2009). In addition to properly assigning error, an appellant challenging an administrative adjudicative order must also set forth a separate statement of each error the party contends was made by the agency, together with issue statements pertaining to each assignment of error. RAP 10.3(h). Unless the appellant properly assigns error or clearly discloses the challenged findings in its issue statements, the factual findings will not be reviewed. RAP 10.3(g). Thus, all factual findings in the Board of Appeal's Review Decision and Final Order are verities on appeal. See, e.g., Roller v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 128 Wn. App. 922, 927, 117 P.3d 385 (2005).

- C. Assets in the Testamentary Trust Were Available to Ms. Berto, Making Her Ineligible for Medicaid
  - 1. The Board of Appeals Correctly Concluded That the Assets in the Testamentary Trust Were Available to Ms. Berto Under WAC 182-516-0100(11)

HCA determines how trusts affect eligibility for Medicaid programs by applying WAC 182-516-0100. AR 8, CL 12. Under WAC 182-516-0100(11), HCA counts trust principal in an initial resource eligibility determination if the applicant is the beneficiary of the trust and has control over that trust. AR 9, CL 14. In Ms. Berto's case, HCA applied this rule and determined that the Testamentary Trust was an asset available to Ms. Berto for Medicaid eligibility purposes because she was the beneficiary of the trust and controlled it. AR 9, CL 14, 16, 17.

When interpreting a regulation, the court first considers the plain language; if the plain language is unambiguous then the court's inquiry ends. *Swedish Health Servs.*, 189 Wn. App. at 914. The plain language of WAC 182-516-0100(11) provides that only the income, and not the principal, of a trust will be counted if (a) the beneficiary has no control over the trust; and (b) it was established with funds of someone other than the client, spouse or legally responsible person. The Testamentary Trust at issue here did not satisfy the first factor of WAC 182-516-0100(11)

because Ms. Berto was the beneficiary of the Testamentary Trust and controlled it as co-trustee.<sup>7</sup> AR 2, FF 4, 5, 6. Consequently, HCA counted the trust principal as available to Ms. Berto. AR 9, CL 16, 17.

Even if WAC 182-516-0100(11) is considered by this Court to be ambiguous, HCA's interpretation of the rule is in accordance with applicable federal guidance. The federal Centers of Medicare and Medicaid Services has published guidance on the treatment of trust assets as available resources in the Medicaid program. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, U.S. Dep't of Health & Human Servs., State Medicaid Manual, § 3259, https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/guidance e/Manuals/Paper-Based-Manuals-Items/CMS021927.html. The federal government's State Medicaid Manual does not have the force of law, but it is owed deference when its interpretations are consistent with statutory language, statutory purpose, and are reasonable. Hobbs ex rel. Hobbs v. Zenderman, 579 F.3d 1171, 1187 (10th Cir. 2009). The Manual directs states to deal with testamentary trusts by "using applicable cash assistance program policies." State Medicaid Manual § 3259.1. The applicable cash

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Estate seems to argue that the second factor of WAC 182-516-0100(11) somehow precludes HCA from applying this subsection of the rule to determine the availability of the Testamentary Trust. Br. Appellant at 7. There is simply no support in the plain language of the rule for the Estate's argument that subpart (11) cannot apply to testamentary trusts created by an applicant's spouse's will. Nothing in the rule indicates that testamentary trusts deriving from the will of an applicant's spouse cannot be considered under the subpart (11) when the applicant is the beneficiary of and controls the trust. The Board of Appeals did not consider the second factor of the subpart (11) because it was determined that the Testamentary Trust did not satisfy the first factor.

assistance policies are found in the POMS, through which the Social Security Administration construes the statutes governing its operations. *E.g., Lopes v. Dept. of Soc. Servs.*, 696 F.3d 180, 186 (2nd Cir. 2012). Like the State Medicaid Manual, the POMS does not have the force of law, but is entitled to persuasive authority. *E.g., Warre v. Comm'r of Soc. Sec. Admin.*, 439 F.3d 1001 (9th Cir. 2006).

The POMS directly addresses treatment of trusts as resources. POMS SI 01120.200D. This POMS provision applies to all trusts, including testamentary trusts. *Id.* According to the POMS, "if an individual can direct the use of the trust principal for his or her support and maintenance under the terms of the trust, the trust principal is a resource for SSI purposes." *Id.* The POMS states that if a beneficiary has the "authority under the trust to direct the use of the trust principal. . . . the beneficiary's equitable ownership in the trust principal and his or her ability to use it for support and maintenance means it is a resource." Also, the POMS states that if the trustee "has the legal authority to withdraw and use the trust principal for his or her own support and maintenance, the principal is the trustee's resource." *Id.* 

As specified by the federal guidance on trusts as resources in POMS SI 01120.200D, a trust is a beneficiary's resource when the beneficiary has the authority to direct the use of the trust principal. HCA's

interpretation of WAC 182-516-0100(11) follows this guidance—a trust controlled by the beneficiary of the trust is available to that beneficiary. 
Ms. Berto was the beneficiary and co-trustee of the Testamentary Trust. 
AR 2, FF 2, 5, 6. As co-trustee, she had control of the Testamentary Trust assets. AR 2, FF 5; AR 9, CL 16. These factual findings by the Board of Appeals have not been challenged by the Estate and are verities on appeal. 
Therefore, according to the applicable provision in the federal guidance, POMS SI 01120.200D and WAC 182-516-0100(11), the trust principal was an available asset to Ms. Berto. Because Ms. Berto had available assets over the resource limit, the Board of Appeals did not erroneously interpret or apply the law and Ms. Berto was correctly determined ineligible for Medicaid.

The Washington Courts have not previously interpreted or applied WAC 182-516-0100 or POMS SI 01120.200D. When considering the treatment of a trust asset in a Medicaid eligibility determination, the Alabama Court of Appeals gave great weight to the provision in the POMS that says that trust principal is not a resource if the beneficiary does not have access to it. *Alabama Medicaid Agency v. Primo*, 579 So.2d 1355 (Ala. Civ. App. 1991). The court gave great weight to the POMS because Congress

conferred on the Secretary exceptionally broad authority to prescribe standards for applying certain sections of the Act; specifically the provision that participating states must grant benefits to eligible persons 'taking into account only such income and resources as are, as determined in accordance with standards prescribed by the Secretary, available to the applicant.'

Id., quoting 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17)(B).

# 2. WAC 182-516-0100(5)(a)(ii) Does Not Exempt Testamentary Trusts From Availability Determinations

The Estate argues that the Testamentary Trust cannot be considered a resource available to Ms. Berto because, as a trust created by will, it is exempt from availability determinations under WAC 182-516-0100(5). Brief of Appellant (Br. Appellant) at 7, 8. The Estate claims that because WAC 182-516-0100(5) does not apply to testamentary trusts, all testamentary trusts are exempt in availability determinations, even if the applicant is the beneficiary of the testamentary trust and controls it. *Id.* The Estate's arguments have no basis in law and fail for the following reasons.

First, nothing in WAC 182-516-0100 indicates that the rule creates an "exemption" for testamentary trusts. WAC 182-516-0100(5) explains how the agency determines whether self-settled trusts created after 2003 available are assets to Medicaid applicants. Under WAC 182-516-0100(5)(a), a trust is considered by HCA to be self-settled when (1) the assets are at least partially from the client or the client's spouse; (2) the trust is not established by will; and (3) the trust was established by the client, client's spouse, or someone acting with legal authority or at the direction of the client. Accordingly, trusts established by a will are not self-settled and are not subject to the resource availability

provisions found in WAC 182-516-0100(5). However, that does not mean that testamentary trusts cannot be evaluated under any other provisions of law determine whether available to they are resources. WAC 182-516-0100(5)(a)(ii) does not exempt all testamentary trusts from resource availability determinations—it simply explains that testamentary trusts are not self-settled and, thus, not evaluated under subpart (5). The Estate cannot take subpart (5)(a)(ii) out of the context of (5)(a) and claim that it exempts all will-established trusts from all availability rules. WAC 182-516-0100(5) did not apply to the Testamentary Trust, but HCA found that WAC 182-516-0100(11) did apply because Ms. Berto was the beneficiary of the trust and controlled it. AR 9, CL 16. Under WAC 182-516-0100(11), the Testamentary Trust was available to Ms. Berto.

Second, the Estate's interpretation of WAC 182-516-0100(5) is not supported by federal law. Br. Appellant at 6. WAC 182-516-0100(5) derives from the federal statute 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(3), which places limits on the use of self-settled trusts as a Medicaid qualifying tool. Testamentary trusts are not evaluated under this statute. 42 U.S.C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(3) states that if there are any circumstances under which payment from an irrevocable self-settled trust could be made to or for the benefit of the applicant, that portion of the self-settled trust is an available resource. Any payments from the self-settled trust not available to the applicant are considered to be assets transferred by the individual, which triggers a penalty period of benefits ineligibility. 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d); *Wong v. Daines*, 582 F. Supp. 2d 475, 481 (S.D.N.Y. 2008).

§ 1396p(d)(2)(A) ("an individual shall be considered to have established a trust if assets of the individual were used to form all or part of the trust and if any of the following individuals established such trust other than by will[.]"). However, contrary to the Estate's claim, this does not mean that all testamentary trusts are unavailable to applicants because 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(2)(A) of the federal statute does not apply to testamentary trusts. 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d) does not apply to testamentary trusts, but it does not preclude states from evaluating testamentary trusts under other regulations to determine whether they are available assets. 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d) was passed and amended several times to close loopholes that allowed applicants to use self-settled trusts to avoid resource eligibility rules.<sup>10</sup> There is no evidence that the statute was enacted to create a loophole for beneficiary-controlled testamentary trusts.

In support of this point, this Court can consider a ruling of the Supreme Court of Nebraska that clearly indicates that testamentary trusts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA) of 1993 amended Medicaid law to tighten the restrictions on self-settled trust loopholes. Pub. L. No. 103-66 § 13611, 107 Stat. 312 (1993). At a committee hearing before the passage of the act, President Clinton's administration testified that the proposed statutory language would "close numerous loopholes in the Medicaid law which allow persons with substantial assets to qualify for Medicaid and ensure that those with substantial personal assets pay a fair share for nursing home care and other medical services before Medicaid starts to pay." Ira Stewart Wiesner, *OBRA '93 and Medicaid: Asset Transfers, Trust Availability, and Estate Recovery Statutory Analysis in Context*, 19 Nova L. Rev. 679, 681 n.4 (1995), *quoting* Hearings on H.R. 2264 Before the Subcomm. on Health and the Environment, 103rd Cong., 1st Sess. 6 (1993).

may be evaluated under provisions of law other than 42 U.S.C. § 1396p. In Pohlmann ex rel. Pohlmann v. Neb. Dept. of Health and Human Servs., 271 Neb. 272, 710 N.W.2d 639 (2006), a Medicaid applicant challenged the state's determination that a testamentary trust was an asset available to her under 42 U.S.C. § 1396p. Pohlmann, 271 Neb. at 275. The Nebraska Supreme Court concluded that the state inappropriately applied 42 U.S.C. § 1396p to the trust because that statute does not apply to testamentary trusts. Pohlmann, 271 Neb. at 278. The Court noted that 42 U.S.C. § 1396p was enacted to restrict loopholes in the Medicaid act through which self-settled trusts were being used to exclude assets from consideration in Medicaid eligibility determinations and that testamentary trusts are not within the purview of that law. *Pohlmann*, 271 Neb. at 277-78. However, the Court also held that the state may still evaluate testamentary trusts under other state regulations that discuss the availability of trust principal for Medicaid purposes. *Id.* at 279. The Court evaluated the specific trust terms under Nebraska regulations and held that its assets were unavailable to the applicant because as beneficiary she could not compel distribution of the assets. Id. at 281.

HCA did exactly that in this case. The Testamentary Trust did not fall within the purview of WAC 182-516-0100(5), so the agency evaluated it under WAC 182-516-0100(11). As explained above,

WAC 182-516-0100(11) is in line with federal guidance that a trust is a beneficiary's resource when the beneficiary has the authority to direct the use of the trust principal. POMS SI 01120.200D. Because Ms. Berto, as the beneficiary, controlled the Testamentary Trust, HCA correctly applied the law and determined that the trust assets were available to her as a resource.

Finally, even if this Court finds WAC 182-516-0100 ambiguous as to how to treat testamentary trusts in Medicaid eligibility determinations, the Estate's alleged "exemption" for testamentary trusts would lead to absurd results. Courts must avoid interpretations of rules that are unlikely or absurd; agency rules should be construed in a rational and sensible manner that gives meaning to underlying policy and intent. *Odyssey Healthcare Operating BLP v. Dep't. of Health*, 145 Wn. App. 131, 143, 185 P.3d 652 (2008).

If this Court was to accept the Estate's interpretation of WAC 182-516-0100, assets in testamentary trusts could never be considered available resources, even if applicants both benefited from and controlled the trust assets. This would directly contradict the POMS guidance regarding trusts as resources and create a massive loophole in the Medicaid program, which is intended to provide medical assistance to those whose income and resources are insufficient to meet the costs of

necessary medical care. *Atkins*, 477 U.S. at 156. An applicant who has access to resources does not qualify for Medicaid, yet the Estate's alleged "exemption" would provide a path towards eligibility for those applicants benefiting from and controlling assets in testamentary trusts. The Estate's alleged "exemption" is illogical and does not give meaning to the intent of Medicaid as a medical-assistance program for the neediest individuals.

The Board of Appeals correctly determined the Testamentary Trust to be an available resource to Ms. Berto. The Estate cannot show that the Board of Appeals erroneously interpreted or applied the law. This Court should affirm the Review Decision and Final Order.

# D. The Estate Should Not Prevail in This Appeal, but if It Does, the Estate Is Not Entitled to Attorney's Fees

The last line of the conclusion of the Estate's opening brief asks that this Court award it attorney's fees and costs, but the Estate does not devote a separate section of its brief to its request for fees and expenses as required by RAP 18.1(b). Br. of Appellant at 9. The requirement that the requesting party devote a section of its opening brief to the request for fees or expenses is mandatory. *Wilson Ct. Ltd. P'ship v. Tony Maroni's*, 134 Wn.2d 692, 710 n.4, 952 P.2d 590 (1998). The rule requires more than a bald request for attorney's fees on appeal; argument and citation to authority are required to advise the court on the grounds for an award of

attorney fees. *Id.* Because the Estate has failed to devote a section of its opening brief to its request for fees and expenses, or include argument or citation to authority to support its request, this Court should deny the Estate's request for attorney's fees and costs.

## V. CONCLUSION

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